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| : | I\IED
IN THE UN ITED STATES DISTRICT C(%g'PE%R THE

MIDDLE DISTRICT OF AL 0b
NORTHERN DIVISI()I‘ZJ%I?IY‘{ﬁ -1 A 1

HACKETT, CLK
 DEBRTRICT COURT

EAGLE MOTOR FREIGHT, INC,, an -
Civil Acfyg B DR RRIBI-a-393

Alabama corporition, irdividually
and on behalf of all others similarly
sifuated,

. CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT

Plaintiff, -
JURY TRIAL DEMANDED
¥YS. '

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

| )
PILOT CORPORATION; PILOT )

'TRAVEL CENTERS, LLC, d/b/a - )
PILOT FLYING J: JAMES A. )

HASLAM, III; JOHN FREEMAN; )

BRIAN MOSHER and MARK j

HAZELWOOD, . — )

)
)

Defe‘ﬂdants-.

~ ORIGINAL COMPLAINT

Plai_x'lfs‘if'f Eagle Motor Freight, .Ing. (“Plaintiff) brings this nationwide class agti_o,n on
_behalf of itself and all similarly gituated Class Meifibérs who, like theé Plaintiff, entered ifit6 a
diesel fuel discount and/or rebate agree.m‘ent with Pilot Flying J, and wﬁo were thercafter
ViCtimiz‘.ed by the Defendants’ and their Qoec'onsl;‘irator'é’ scheme to sectetly and unlawfully
withhold die_‘:‘se]lfqel price rebates andfot discounts promised and owed to Pla’iﬂ_ﬁﬂ" and Cla-s';s
Membeis.!

BACKGROUND

I Plaintiff is pursuing this class action against Defendants Pilot Corporation, (“Pilot

Corp.”), Pilot Travel Centers, LLC, dba Pilot Flying J, (*Pilot Flying J*), James A. ‘-"Ii'mmy;:’

3 Plaintiff asserts the allegations hercin based upon personal knowledge as to the facts pertaining to !tself and upon |
information and belief as to all other matters, and based upon the investigation by its counsel. -
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Haslam, III (“H_a‘si_am”), John Fre‘eﬁan ' (“Frecman”); Brian Mosher (“Mpéhér”), and Mark
Hazelwood, (“Hazelwood”) (Freeman, Mosher and Hazelwood are referred to ,here_i:n joiﬁtiy as the
" “Individual Defendants®) for their miscénduct described herein and seeks damages, decléiator‘y;
injunctive and all ottier appropriate relief per Rule 54(c), Fed. R. Civ. P., pursuant to, infer alia,
federal racketeering laws, state decep‘ti‘ﬁe trade pracfi‘ces statutes, and the comimor laws of Unj‘ustl
" enrichment and/or l;reach of contr'act, intentional and negligent misrepresentation, and
SUppr‘és_sion.
2. Defendant Pilot Flying J owns and operates ﬂ:le country’s largest chajn.o'f truck |
‘siops with hundreds of travel centers -nationwide. It is a privately held company with a;muél
revenues of $29 billion d,ollérs. Pilot Flying J is the hation's number one retdiler of diesel fuel, and
one of the country’s largest restaurant 6perat0rs. Pilot Flying J has thoqsaﬁds of trucking and fleet
customiers.” It is reported o be the sixth largest pfiv_a_tely owned company in the United States.
Pilot Flying J's owners include Defendants Pilot Corp. and Haslam.?

3. To build and maintain that leading market share, Pilot Flying J, through its national
sales team, courts fong-haill trucking corfipanies with offers for dis‘cnu‘ﬁ,ted diesel fuel. As
de_scri'bed' in more detail below, those discounted fuel contra;:ts_ may take the form either of a
discount on the invoiced price at the pump, or a monthly rebate.on purchases. However, th'e_samé
salespeople who strike the deals with custc;m@rs .al_so are able, .wit_h the aid of t_heir_

Co-Conspirators, to control what discounts of rebates are, in fact, paid to théir trucking clientéle.

? PiloP’s customers are primarily trucking companies or individual owner/operators of commercial motor vehicles,
e.g., long-haul trucks, 18-wheelers, o tractor-trailer rigs.

? As privately held companies, pubilcly available information regarding the ¢urrent ovnership and mterrelatlonshlp of
Pilot Corp. and Pilot Flymg I is sparse, and media accounts have bieen conflicting, Such information is, of course,
kriowh to Pilot Corp. and Pilot Flying J; discoverable, and once obtairied, Plaintiff will seek to add or correct any
matérial angd necessary mformatlon by amendmem .
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. To boost Pilot Flying I’s purported profits, to ¢arn themselves higher commissions and/or bonuses,
and to pad the profits flowing _t.hrough' to Haslam (the CﬁO-and.Cha_.inna:n of both Pilot Flying J
and Pilot Corp.) and Pilot Corp., the Defendanits and theit Co-Corispirators havé '-s?S‘tsmaticall’y
shortchanged certa-in_ ﬁcking c&npanies halw'ingﬁf scount or rebate agreements with Pﬂot Flying J.
4, - The Défc.ndantS’ conspiracy to shQnCEange trucking Cﬁstomefs of Pilot Flying J
first cafne to light this 'spr‘ixilg when the afﬁdavit of a Federal Bureau-of Iiivestigation (“FBI”) agerit
participating in a criminal investigation of Pilot Flying J and its affiliates and employees was
unsealed. On f‘cbru_ary 18, 2013, Special Agent Robert Root’s affidavit (the “FBI Affidavit”) was |
filed in the U.S. Distfict Court for the Eastern Di-stfict of Tefinéssee in support of an applieation for
search warrants related to the Pilot fuel discount and rebate scheme. See Ex. A, “FBI Aff.” The
~ FBI Afﬁdavif was filed to demonstrate prdbable 'cau_sé thét “Pilot employees cng'ag‘é_d in a
conspiracy' and scheme to defraud by deceptively withholding diesel fuel price reba{éé and
discounts from Pilot ét;stomers, without the knowledge or approval of the customer, for the dual
purposes of increasing the prOﬂtaﬁility of Pilot and increasing the diesel sales commissions of the
Pilot eniployees participaéing in the fraud, in violation of 18 Ij.S.C. §§ 371 (eons'pirjaicy), A13-41
(mail fraud); 1343 (wire fraud), and 1349 (con_spiracyf” (Ex. A at 7 93). . | |
| 5. TheFBI sought search warrants of three residences and th_r%:e gommercial property
locations, hamely: v .

a. 5508 Lonas Diive, Khoxville, TN, which according to the Tenriessee Secretary of
Stdte’s corporation database, is the address for the following entities:

Rt .Pi.lot Corporation;
ii. Flying J Transportation LLC; and

ili. Pilot Travel Centers, LLC.
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b. 5500 Lonas Drive, Knoxville, TN, “which according to.the FBI Affidavit, is the
commercial building where Pilot Corp and/or Pilot Flying J regional account
representatives work. :

c. 1339 E. Weisgarber Road, Knoxville, TN, which according to the FBI Affidavit, is
the business service center housing Pilot Corp. and Pilot Flying J’s computer
SEervers.

d. . Hebron, KY, which according to the FBI Affidavit, is the
residence of Co-Conspirator Arnold Ralenkotter (“Ralenkotter”). The FBI
Affidavit states that Ralenkotter is a Pilot Corp. and/or Pilot Flying J employee and
his title is Director of Sales for the Northeast Region. The FBI Affidavit further
statés that RalénKotter is supervised by Vice President of Sales, Defendant
Freeman, On May 24, 2013, Ralenkotier entered into a plea agreement in the case
of United States v. Ralenkoter, 3:13-cr-63 (E.D. Tenn.), in which he entered a plea
of guilty to one count of conspiracy to commit mail fraud and wire fraud in
violation of 18 U.8.C. § 1349, all in connection with the scherne(s) alleged hetein.

c. 1IN B<ttcndorf, lowa, which according to the FBI Affidavit, is
the residence of Defendant Mosher. The FBI Affidavit states that Mosher is a Pilot
Corp. and/or Pilot Flying J employee and his title is Director of Sales National
Accounts. The FBI Affidavit further states that Mosher was formeily the Ditector
of Sales for the Midplairis Region and was supervised by Deféndant Freeman.

f. . -siville, TN, which accordmg to the FBI Affidavit, is the
residence of Kevin Hanscomb, (“Hanscomb”), The FBI Affidavit states that
Hanscomb is a Pilot Corp. arid/or Pilot Flying J employee dnd his title is Director of
Sales for the Southeast Region. The FBI Affidavit further statés that Hanscomb is
superwsed by Defendant Freeman.

6.  Plaintiff, for itselfand Class Members, incorporates herein by referenv)e adopts and
alleges the detailed facts set forth in the FBI Affidavit in support of its claims and causes of action.
7. .- The ‘FB'I‘ Affidavit détails systeinatic cheating of Pilot Flying J customers who
purchased diesel fuel for commercial use from Pilot Flying I’s fuel stations and travel plazas
across the country. The scheme was glven the blessing of Haslam and was conducted by, among

others, the Individual Defendants and other Pilot Corp andfor Pilot Flying J executives and

employees, who are listed in the FBI Affidavit as  haying participated in the scheme, but who are .’

not named as defendants herein (“Co-Conspirators™),
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8. - Pilot Flying J sells a tfemeﬁadus volumé of diesel fuel to ¢ommercial trucking
customers thﬁ‘mgh the efforts of its Regionai Sales Directors, Regional Sales Managers, Regional
Account Rep-resentat_ives and Inside .Sales Representgiives. Regional Sales Directors are
employees of Pilot Cofp-. and/;Jr- Pilot Flying I who r‘nake,.'sales calls on c‘:’ﬁs‘tome’rs within t_ﬁeir"
assfgned region and who manag'e the Regional Sales-Managers within their region. See Ex. A.
Regional Sales Managers are Pilot Corp,~ and/or Pilot Flying J sales employeés who make sales
calls on custo-mers within their assignqd sales region. See Ex. A. Regional chouht
Representatives z%re Pilot Corp. and/or Pilt(.)’t Flying J sales employe‘és who work -at the comb‘i;led,
- Pilot Cotp./Pilot Flying J business: headquartets i Knoxville, TN. Regional Account
Rep_resentatives; support Regional Sales Mah_agers and Regional Sales Directors. See Ex. A. Inside
Sales Represgent_ative;s are Pilot Corp, and/or Pilot Flying J sales eniployees W}‘io Wérk at the Pilot
Corp./Pilot Flying J combined headquarters iri Knoxville. Inside Sales Representatives supervise
. Regional Account Representatives. See Ex. A. |

0. | Defeﬂdan‘;s described the fuel di306Mt offer-as eit}xer-;‘cost- plus” or “retail minus”.
For “cost plus”, the trucking customer would purchase diesel fuel at Pilot Flying J*s “cost”, plusx
cents per gallon. The “cost” of the diesel fo Pilot- Flying J varied daily, depending Qﬁ market
c_éndiﬁ(}ns. For “retail minus”, the trucking cﬁstofﬁef' W(:)'uld pufchase diesel fuel _fr_i:)m Pilot
Flying J at the pump price retéil amount, less x cents per gallon. Whether “cost plus” or “retail
minus”, the “x” amount was negotiated by Pilot Corp./Pilot Flying J salespersons with_each
customer, |

10. A Once the “x” :éimbunt of' 6iscoﬁnt was negotiated and agreé‘ci upon, the customer
bwould choose whether to receive the benefit of the bargain stiuck by either a d'is}::(‘)imt of a febat:e.
The customer would thereafier purchase diese! fuel from various Pilot Flying J locations zm,d. pay -

5




. R

Case 2:13-cv-00393-WC Document 1 Filed 06/07/13 Page 6 of 36

the rétail price of the fuel at the puinip. If the customer chose a discount, the customer would see

"ihe_disc.ount by way of daily, weekly or mionthly fuel statements. These 3tateitients reflected the

purportedly discounted amount charged to the customer.
11.  These staterents would émanate from either a third-party credit compaty, i.e., a

fuel card, the customer would use-to purchase the Pilot Flying J fuel, or a statement directly from

Pilot Flying J if the customer purchased the Pilot Flying J diesel fuel on credit extended by Pilot

Flying J.

12, Ifthe cﬁstomef chose a rebate, the customer WQuIc_l"-pay the retail price for the fuel
and the'reaﬁe;: feceive a monthly rebate check. The améunt bf the rébate ¢heck was supposed to
be for the difference between the pump price at the time of purchase and the fuel discount the
custorer had agreed to accept. However, for Plaintiff and the Class qube_rs,_?ilot Flying J
would, fafhér’ thahn hohoring the f.uell-rebate_ deals struck with the customier, unilateratly withhold a
portion of the rebate from the customer without the customer’s knowledge and consent; The result
was a febate check to the Pilot Flying J customer that was less than what the cnstomer should have
received or a discount reflected on the fuel statement that was iess than'whs.it the customer was
supposed ﬁo receive. Similarly; if the c{ustomer entered into a cost-plus or retailsminus discount
agreemefit, the. Defendants would manipulate theit Spreadéheets to provide a lowet discount than
agreed.

13.  Pilot Flying J systematically and intentionally targeted what it donsideredb to be
customers who might not have the manpower or financial sophistication to discover that Pilcﬁ
Flying J was cheating them. The befendants’ scheme to shortchange Pilot Flying J customers was
so pervasive that it _be_came a part of the Pilot/Pilot Flyi'né J culture. Recorded conversations

among the Individual Defendants and their Co-Conspirators recounted in the FBI Affidavit
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demonstrate the extent and naturel of their e_fforts to cheat Pilot Flying.J customers out of their.
agreed discqunts or reb'etes. As described by Pilot Flying J -’.s Vice President for Sales, Defendant
Freetnan, while leading a2 meeting ‘ef Pilot Flying J regional sales directoré, the idea of Defendants’
ongoing schem.e to cheat their trucking‘ customers eut of their fuel rebate/discount's was. to,
“Fuqk’em early and fuck’em often....” See Ex. A, at 1 63, p-‘ 50.

14, Defendants’ scheme to cheat Pilot Flyiig J customers out of their full rebates and
discounts was conducted with the knowledge an& appreval of Defendants Haslam and Pilot Corp.
and the Individual Defendants and CosConspirators regularly taught this scherfie to defraud to all
of their sales persoehel' both in casual'oe one-on-one mentoring and in formal sales me‘etings.

15.  For example; at a November 20, 2012 diesel sales ﬁ'eeting at wilieh Defendant
Haslarh and all regional directors, regional sales managers and regional account repfesentatives
were present; Defendant Hazelwood joked about mtroducmg a customer “to a guy named-
Manuel,” which was the company mckname for references to manual”' dlscounts, i.e., mantially .
 changing the agreed discounts. Ex. A at § 71. |

16. Accordine to the FB] Affidavit, a confidenial informant advised that Defendants
Haslam and Ffeeman had :been' “looking catefully at every (iu.stofner’-s prdﬁt and loss report and
consolidating duplicate _entries,"’ and further that with such information, the “Rebate.Fraud would
be cleaﬂ_y evident to Jimmy Haslam and John Freeman.” Ex, A at 78 |

17: Ina recorded .convsrs.at.ion between a confidential iﬁfonnent and De‘fénciant
kn‘owledge of the fraud:

~ CHS=-2: What does Mark [Hazelivood] and Jil imey [Haslam] say about shit like that? Do they
even catéh it or-do they know? ' .
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FREEMAN: Fuckin' A. I mean, I called Jimmy and told him I got busted at Westem
‘Express. ,

CHS-2; What'd he say?
" FREEMAN: Oh he knew it.
CHS-2: Oh did he?

FREEMAN: Absolutely. I mean, he knew all along that I was cost-plussin’ this guy.
He knew it all along. Loved it. We wefe makin' $450,000 a month on hiri—

CHS-2: Holy shit!
FREEMAN: -- why wouldn't he love it?
CHS-2: Yeah.

FREEMAN: D1d it for five years, cost us a million bucks I mean, we made $6 million
on the guy, cost us a millien bucks. '

CHS-2: Great i'nvestme'nt-.

Ex. A at § 81.

13. Co-Coﬁspirator Cathy Giesick advised the FBI that threé to fou;‘ years before, she
participated in a meeting at which D@fen&agts Mosher; Hazelwood and Haslém were present. She
A heard Haslam thapk Mosher for saving the company honey, Theréaﬁer, Moshet told Def;andant
Hazelwood, and Hazelwood acknowledged, that Mosher was making money for Pilot by
f@uduiently reducing customer rebates. Ex. A at 423, | |

19, Defendant Haslam and other Individual Defendants and C(J‘-Con‘sp,irafcors had ';ﬂl
the information before them to see the difference between what was being promised to custorers
versils what they were actually provi&ed. Pilot Flying J, the. Individual Defendants and t.he
Co-an_spijrat'ors maintained spreadsheets and other rec‘prds detailing the agreed wpon discounts ot

rebates for each customer, and the amounts Pilot Flying J actually provided to such customers.
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i Accordingl};, 'Deféndants and their Cq-anspirators have records spec?ﬁcall'ly identif‘yin_g each |
- putative Cig‘ss Member, the amount each such Cias; Member was shortchanged, and the t_ixﬁ_ing of
each 1‘.11‘1(1ia_l_"paly.x_nf;'nt.4
20.  Although the Pilot insiders had access to spreadsheets and other doc.uments, that not
oniy revealed but detailed the fraud, the nature of the Defent'iadt,s’ scheme was difﬁcuit for
customers without those inteémal s.prea.dsheets and othef docuiments to detect due to constaritly
fluctuating diesel fuel ptices. To knoWQhether Defendants were manipulating the discounts or
réﬁates owed fo them, customers would—at a minimqmmhave to thaiﬁ'dé_i_ly pricing for every
truck stop location in the country serving their teucks, then compare those prices to what they were
invoiced, and then c.orﬁp_are the discourits or ‘rebates »tl.ley received baéed .on those purchases to the
'ax'nount:s they agreed to accept. Fearing that larger trucking eompanies with the manpower and
so_f’iware nece's,égry to undertake sﬁch an audit might catch ‘oﬁto their fraud, ‘Defendants instea;i
tqrgéted.'smaller companies and those they arrogantly considered to be “unsophisticated” (Ex. A at
. § 13, 75), a “dumbass” (id. at § 66), “dumb- shit” (id, at § 72), or “lazy” (id. at § 68). Defendants -
also targeted Latinos in the hopes that language batriers might make discovery of their fraud more
difficult, of easier to explain away if caught. Id. at § 82.
21.  Two C.o-Con.spirators — Arnold Ralenkotter, a regional sales director (whos;g home
was searched pursuant to a search warrant obtained with the FBI Afﬁdévi_t), and Ashley Judd, a.
regional account ex,ég:utiske ~have entered guilty pleés to one count of conspitacy egch to commit
_ inail and wite fraud in conilection yvith the discount and rebate fraud alleged hf:rcin. The FBI’s

investigation is ongoing.

* See, e:g., Ex. A at 19 9, 25,32, 41, 48,49, 53, 57, 77, 96,

9




Case 2:13-cv-00393-WC Document 1 Filed 06/07/13 Page 10 of 36

22.  Plaintiff, for itseif and Class Members, seeks .to recover ﬁom-Defenda;lts their
actual, cons¢quential and incidental d_amaggs, punitive damages, RICO freble damages, equitable
relief in the form of. disgorgement of gross revenues earned on the unilaterally reduced and
withheld fuel rebates and/or discounts, injunctive relief to stop Defendants from continuing their
scheme to defraud and/or obtaining rhoney l;»y false pfomises_, pre- and post-judgment interest,
attorneys’ fees, litigation expenses, costs, and such other relief as the Court under Rule 54(5) may
find just and appropriate. _
| THE PARTIES

23.  Plaintiff Eagle Motor Freight, Iic. (“Plaintiff”) is an Alabaﬁa corporation with its
pri‘ncipal place of business in Montgomery County, Alabama. Plaintiff was a party to a fueki- rebate
and/or discount confract with Pilot Flying J between é‘pproxhnately February 2(509 and tl.le present .-
day, under which Flying J was and is required to credit or refund a certain percentage of Plai_ntiﬁ’s’
fuel purchases on a monthly basis. The fuel rebate agreemenf and/or discount was reached with
Pilot ernpl'oye_e, Kevin Hanscomb, whose home was searched by the FBI piirsuarit to & search
* warrant issue;i_ based upon the. FBI Affidavit. That affidavit further ties Ha_nscomb to the
cog’spirgcy and fraud to cheat Pilot Flying J cﬁ,sto_meré of their discounts and/or reba;és.
Hanscomb’s direet supervisor is Dc;fqnd_;ant Freeman, who was, prior to being promoted, Regional
S,éles Director of the'SOuth/SOuthe_aStem Region. Freeman is also tied to the fraud in the FBI
Afﬁdavi‘t. Plaintiff has, on. information and belief, been -damaged- by the Defendants’
herein-described scheme of intentionally, unilaterally and fraudulently ;‘educing and_\-,vit_‘hhold_'i_ng
fuel rebates and/or discounts owed to the Plaintiff,

24, Defendant Pilot Corporation (“Pilot Corp.”) lS a Tennessee cé,rpor‘a,tion with its
principal place of business in Knoxville, Tennessee. Pilot Corp. (fka Pilot Qil Corporation) was

10
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founded by Défendant Haslam’s fatherin 1958 with his purchase of a single existing gas station.

By the late 1990s, _l_"ilbt Corp. had growh to operate truck stops across the country. In or about

' 2001, Pilot Co.fp'. formed Pilot Travel Centers, LLC with Marathon Oil and transferred ownership

of most, if not all, of its truck stops to Pilot Travel Centers, LLC. In 2008, Pilot Corp. bought out
Marathon’s interest in Pilot Travel Centers, LLC. Some reports state that Pilot Corp. still operates

the Pilot Food Mart convenience stores in Tennéssee; At all relevant times, Pilot Corp,, by and

t

through Hasla:ﬁ, the Individual Defendants and Co-Conspirators, owned, operated, managed and

directed Pilot. Flying J, 'andr continues to do so. Pilot Corp., through Defendants Hasiam and
H'aze'lwood; a_mdng other COLCOns;;iratofs; conducted or participated in, directly or indirectly, in
the conduet of Pilot Flying J’s affairs through a pattein of racketeering activity. Pilot Cofp. is
éngag‘ed in interstate commerce.

25., Defendant Pilot Travel Centers, LL.C dbg Pilot/Flying J (“Pilot Flying J”) is a

Delaware limited liability company with its principal place of business in Knoxville, Tennessee.
Pilot Cdfp; and Pilot. Flying J are both lieadquattered at, and operated from, the same .

address—5508 Tonas Drive, Knoxville, TN 37909. At all relevant times, Pilot Flying J owned

and operated (and continues to own and operate) an extensive number of truek stops, travel centers
and travel plazas in forty-four states nationwide under the Pilot F lymg J brand that were patromzed

‘ by Plaintlff and Class Membersin rchance upon the Plamtlff and Class Members dlscount and/or

febate agrcerrients W‘ith Pilot Flying J. At aIl relevant times, PiIo,t Flying AR th:oug_h the Individual.

Defendants, Héslam, Pilot Corp. and their Co-Conspiratdrs, engaged in thc'above—described
schemé to frauduiently and intentionally reduce and withhold the fuel rebates and/or dlscounts

owed to Plamnﬁ' and Class Members, w1thout their knowledge of approval, for the purposes of

increasing Pilot Cotp. and Pilot Flying T's profitability, increasing Pilot Corp.’s and Haslam’s .

11
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return on investment, and increasing the compensation of Haslari, the Individual Defendaiits arid
their Co-C-onsi)irat('njs. Pilot Flying J is engaged in interstate commerce.

26.  Defendant James A. ‘-‘-Jimmjf” Haslam, Il (“Haslam™) is a citizén and resident of
Knoxville, Tennessee or the surrounding me‘tr'opolitan area. At aJl relevant times, Haslam wag (and
continties to bie) Chairman and CEO of Pilot Corp. and Pilot Flying J. In this position, Haslam
exercised control, authority, responsibility and/or supervision over the Individual Defendants and
their Co-Conspirators, Pilot Corp. and Pilot Flying J (and their officers, employees, agents and
representatives), including establishing and modeling corporate culture, and approving the
operations, poiicies, procedures, the fuel rebatefdi‘scnuntl program and the scheme to defraud
Plaintiff and Class Members {and continues to do so). Haslam participaAted or conducted, directly
- or indirectly, in the conducf of Pilot Flying J°s affairs through a pattern of racketeex:ipg activity by
apptoving and countenancing the Individual Defendants’ and Co-Conspifators’ ffauds'.A

“ 27.  Defendant Mark Hazelwood, (“Hazelwood”) is a citizen and resident of Knoxville,
Tennessee or the surrounding metropolitan area. At all relevant times, Hazelwood was (and
continues to be) President of Piiot Corp. and Pilot Flying J and was and is di.rectl}; supervised by
Haglam. In this position, Hazelwood exetcised contiol, authority, fespéhéibilit'y- and/or supérvision
over certain Pilot Corp. and/or Pilot Flying J employees, officers, agents and representatives,
‘including estabfishing and modeling corporate culture, and approving operations, policies,
procedures, the fuel rebate/discount pfogra_._m and the scheme to defraud PLaj_nti_ff and Class
Members (and contimies to do 50). Hazelwood also éngaged in andfpr‘f caused Pilot Fiying J to
engage in the above-described scheme to fraudulently and intent_iénal_ly__reduée and withhold the
fuel rebates and/or .discéunts Pilot Flying J owed to Plaintiff and Class Members, without their
knowledge or approval, for the purposes of increasing Pilot Flying:.l’s profitability, increasing its

12




Case 2:13-cv-00393-WC Document 1 Filed 06/07/13 Page 13 of 36

and Haslam’s return on investment, and increasing his and the compensation of other of Individual
Defendants and/or Co-Conspirators. Hazelwood thereby conducted or participated in th‘g conduct
of Pilot Flying J’s affairs through a pattein of racketeering activityi
| 28. Defendant Brian Mosher (“Mosher”) is a reSid;nt of Bét_tgndorf, lowa or the
surrounding area. At all relevant tirﬁes, Mosher was the Director of National Aécounts- and
Director of Sal_es'-Midp'lains of Pilot Flying J. Mosher was at a’li times under the supefvis‘i'oﬁ of
Defendants Haslam and Hazelv\;pod. M'osher.exercised control, authority, responsibility and/or
snpervisidn o{re'r- other Pilot Flying J employées, officers, agents and representatives, inélu_ding
.setting and. modeling corporate gultﬁre, and app.foving or establishing dperations,_ policies,
procedures, t_he fuel rebate/discount progra_in and the scheme to dAejfmud Plaintiff and Class
Meibers (aind conitiniues to do s0). Mosher enigaged in and/or caused Pilot Flying J to engage 1r1 the
above-described scheme to ﬁaudﬁleﬁtly and intentionally reduce and withhold the fuel rebates
and/or discounts Pilot Flying J owed to Plaintiff and Class Members, without their knowledge or
approval, for the pﬁfpos’_es of incfeasing' Pilot Flying J's profitability, increasing ifs return on
investment, and increasing his and the compensation of other Individual Defendants and/or
Co-—Co‘mpir‘étors. Mosher thereby c¢onducted o.r part’icipated in the conduct of Pilot Flying J’s
 affairs through a pattern of racketeering activity. | |
29 Deferidant John P;reelﬁﬁn (“Freeman” or “Stick”) is a citizen and resident -of ‘
Knoxvji"lle, Tennessee or the surrounding metropolifan area, At all relevant times, Freeman was
- Viee Prcside‘ﬁt of Sales for:Pilot Corp. and Pilot Flying J, and a former Director of Sales for the
‘ South/S_outheast Regioné, and directly supervised the three Regiona:l Saleé Directors in the United
States, 'i‘nc_:'ludi‘rig Co-Conspirator Afﬁie Ralenkoﬁer (Northieast), who entered a guilty plea to a
count of conspiring to commit wire and mail f[aud?iﬁ conneetion with the scheme described h-ereiﬁ_,

13
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and Co-Conspirator Kevig Hanscomb (Southeast), with whom Plaintiff entered inio its
' fe_:ba_te/dise’ount agreement. The FBI Affidavit alleges that_Freer_na_n, Pilot’s Vice President of Sales
and former Director of Sales for. the South/Southeast Regions, had “for years” engaged in -
defrauding Pilot’s customers out of their agreed-upon fuel rebates/discounts, See Ex. A, 7 9,
Freeman is supervised by Hazelwood. Jd. Fieeman exercised control, authority, respbns'ib‘iiify
and/or supervision over certain Pilot Corp. and Pilot Flying J employees, agents and
teptesentatives, including setting and modeling corporate culture, and app'ro‘v‘ihg and
implementing operations, éolicies, procedures, the fuel rebate/discount program and the scheme to
defraud Plaintiff and Class Meﬁbers. Freeman also engaged in and/or caused Pilot Flying J to
engage in the 'IaboVe-d;:s,cribed scheme to defraind aﬁd/or obtain money from Plaintiff through
commercial fraud for the purpose of increasing- Pilot Flying J’s profits and increasing his and 6ther‘
Co=Conspirator or ﬁefend@nts’ compensation, Freeman thereby (_:o'ﬁ_du,c‘ted_ or participated in the
conduct of Pilot Fiying I’s affairs through a pattern of racketeering activity.

30,  Other execu‘tive.s and/or employees of Pilot Corp. and/or Pilot Flying J (the
“Co-Conspirators™), most, if not all, of whom are r‘ia,tln'ed in the FBI Affidavi.t,_ participatéd,
directed, conducted and/or conspired with Pilot Corp. and th‘e 'Individua'iif)ef'endants to conduet or
participéte in, d'irectiy. or indirectly, the conduct of Pilot Flying J’s affairs through a'paﬁttem of
xack@_t_éering activity but are not 'n.amed herein at this time as Defendants. |

| JURISDICTION AND VENUE

31. | This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over Plaintiff's claims under: (i) 18
U.8.C. §.1961, ef seq., and 18 U.S.C. § 1964(a), (¢) (RICO); (ii) 28 US.C. § 1332@) beéa’use the
matter in controversy exceeds $75,000, exclusive of interest and costs; and the Parties are citizens
of diffeteiit states and/or forei;gﬁ states (diversity); (iii) 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d) (CAFA), because (a)
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there are 100 ot mhore Class Members, (b) at least one Class Mertber is a citizen of a state that is
diverse from the citizenship of at least one of Defedd'ants, aid (c) the fnatter in contrfoversy
exceeds $5,009,000, exclusive of icterest and costs; acd (iv) 28 US.C. § 1367 (supplemental
jurisdiction). |

| 32, This Court has in personam jurisdicticn over Defendants pursuantr to 28 US.C. § -
‘ 17_96'5(c1_) and/or 28 U.S.C. § 1965(b).. Moreover, Pilot Flying J eperates truck stops within this
district and all Defehdants have either directed their fraudulerit scheme toward or have
commuinicated with andf.cr made in—person-trics to visit the Plaintiff and others in this d.i,s_tri:ct.

| 33, At a-ll' relevant times, Defendants were found, had agents, ditectly and/or indirectly
-cond'ucte'd business and/or committed a substantial amount of the wrongful actions made—the besis
of this suif 1n the Middle District of Alabama, Accordingly, venue is proper in the Northern
Division 6fthe, Middle ]i)is'trictAofAiaba‘ma puisuaint to 28 U.S.C § 1391 and 18 U_.S.C § 1965.
 FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS

34,  Atall reievant. times—since as early as 2005 and eo_ntinuin‘g indefinitely into the
future absent Court 1ntervent10n~the Defendants have intentionally devised, engaged in,
condoned and/or ratified the above-referenced nationwide scheme to defraud and cheat Plaintiff
and Class Members and/or obtained money from Plaintiff and Class Meribers under filse
proniises (i.e., the ﬁﬁlater‘ally reduced morithly fuel rebates and/or discounts), thereby damaging
Pleintiff a.nd Class Members in their businesses and property. See Ex. A.

35, As set forth in Exhibit A, at all relevant times, Pilot Flyilng J, aeting by and through
and under the direction of its members, officers, directors, employees, and/or agents, ihcluding
Haslam, the Individual Defendants, Co-Ccnspirators, ahd Pilot Corp.; knowingly, intentionally,
and repeatedly engaged in the a_bove-referenced' s'cherde to defraud and cheat PIadntiff and Class
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Members and/or obtained money from Plaintiff and Cla,ss Membe’és under false promises (i.e.;
paying'uhil'atefany reduced monthly fuel tebates and/or dis:couﬁ_ts)-, without their knowledge or
approval, for the purposes of*increasing Pilot Flﬁng Ps profitability, int:-reasing' Haslam and Pilot
Corp‘."s fetuth on investment, and increasing the Individual Defendants’ and Co-Conspirators’
compénsation (and the ‘c,ompensation of other of Pilot Corp. and/or Pilot Flying J’s current and/or’

former employees),

36.  Asset forth in Exhibit A, at all relévant times, Haslam, the Individual Defendants -

and their Co-Conspirators, along with Pilot Corp., intentionally devised, instigated, engaged in,
perpetrated, executed, condoned and/or fatified the above:referenced open-ended and unlawful
scheme to ;iéffaud and cheat Plaintiff and Class Members and/or intentionally engaged in éfforts to
unilater'ally reduced mdnthly fuel rebates and}or discounts, withéut the knowledge or ai}aproval‘of
Plaintiff and Class Members, .for the purposes of increasing Pilot Flying I's profitability,
incr‘easir‘ig Haslam and Pilot Corp.'s feturn on inve'stm_ent, and increasing the Individual
Defendants and Co-Conspirators’ compensation (and the compensation of other of Pilot Corp.
and/or Pilot Flying I’s current and/or former employees). |

37. As set forth in Exhibit A, at all relevant times, Defendants knowmgiy,
intentionally, and repeatedly misrepresented, concealed, hid, and/or caused to be misrepresented,
concealed, and hiddeq, tﬁe above-described wrongful acts é.nd practices, and the purposes of their
wrongful acts and practices, committed in furtherance of the above-referenced scheme to defraud
and cheat Plaintiff and Class Members and/or efforts to' obtain money from Plaintiff and Class
Members under false promises (i.e., paying uni}aterally reduced moﬁtiﬂy fuel rebatés and/or
discounfs).
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38.  The Individual Deferidants, their CmCoﬁs‘pita‘tofs and Pilot Corp. pursued and
accomplished this detailed unlawﬁui scheme to defraud by e‘ngaging in 'r'epeafed anéi systeinatic
mai! fraud and/or mterstate and/or forelgn wire fraud (descnbed in detail in the FBI Affidavit) in
violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1341, 1343 Specifically, Haslam, the Indwndual Defendants their
Co-Conspirators and Pilot Corp., individually and/or on behalf of Pilot Flying J (and possibly B
others), ﬁs_e‘d and/or caused Pifot FIﬁn_g J (the RICQ enterprise) to use the USPS and/or private or
comercial intetstate cattiers and/or ‘fﬁterstatc and/or foreign wires in interstate and/dr foreign

. commerce to devise; engage in, cqndqne and/or ratify the abqve-refercnc'éd open-ended and
"+ unlawful scheme to dcfr'alr;d and chieat Plaintiff and Class mefﬂbe‘rs out of thie full amousit of their
monthly fuel rebates and/or discounts,

39.. ‘Althougha number of the speeific acts of wire and/or mail fraud are detgiled in ﬂle
FBI Affidavit, the dates and substance of 1l of Defendants’ fraudulent communications by and
between themsél"ves via the mails ai;dfor interstate anafqr foreign v\.r,ire;s in fu;thergr_ncc of the
above-referenced scherme to ‘d_eﬁ"alid,_ as well as their fraudulent commusiications to Plaintiff and
Class Members in furtherance of thcu' efforts to obtain money from Plaintiff and Class Members
by false promises via the mails and/or interstate and/or forelgn wires, are ih Defendants
possc_s_snon, custody, and control, to the exclusioni of Plaintiff and Class Members, and await
discovety. |

40. The ab_m./e-referenced wrongful acts violated all concepts of moral uprightness;
‘ fundamental honesty, fair play and right dealing in the general and business life of the menibers of
sOciety.‘T'ﬁe above-referenced v&ongﬁjl acts ufair]y betrayed the conﬁdez;ces Plaintiff'and Class
Members placed in Defendgnts by-and/or through the corruption of the Iﬁdividﬁa‘l Defendants,
Haslam, Pilot Corp. and Cb-Cohépir’ators._ The above-réferenced wrongful acts also were a
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. consistent, regular and dominant part of the corporate culture and manner in which the Individual ‘
D‘ef_endénts, their CqéCorisbirators, Haslam and Pilot Corp. particip‘aited in and conducted the
day-to-day business aff;airs of Pilot Flying J (the RICO enterprise).

41, By their unlawful. actions, the Individal Defendants, their Co-Conspiratars,

* Haslam, and Pilot Corp., (i) conducted and/or patticipated in the affairs of Pilot Flying J (the R_ICO

: enterprise) in v'iolation of 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c) and!qr (i1) conspired to violate 18 U.S.C. § 196;2(«3;)
in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1962(d), and thereby defrauded and injured the business interests of
Plaintiff'and Class Members in the process.

42,  The Individual befe,ndants, their Co-Conspirators, Haslam and 'Pilot.(.J;)rp; éaused
Pilot Flying J (the RICO enterprise) to (i) engage iri the fraudulent scherne w1th the intent, inter
alia, to defraud and cheat Plaintiff and Class Members by covertly and unilaterally reducing and
- withholding the fuel reb’z;tes.andlor discounts owed tOlPl_a'intiﬁj and Class Menibers, and/of (i)
engage in efforts to obtain money from Plaintiff and Class Members by false promises (i.e., paying
unilaterally reducéd monthly fuel rebates and/or d_i,scoun_t,s)—aﬂ without Plaintiffs and Class
Membeis® knowledge of épprovai’, for thé purposes of increasing EIying Ps proﬁtabﬁity, ‘
increas'ing. Haslam’s and Pilot Corp.’s return on investment, and 'increa_si_ng the. In‘div.i‘dua‘i
Defendants’ and Co-Conspirator's compénsja_tidn—-to the financial detriment of Plaintiff aﬁd Class
Members. The above wrohgful actions of the Indi‘vi_d'lial Defendants, their Co-Conspirators,
Haslam and Pilot Corp., C{;nducted over the telephone, cell phones and the U.S. mails, constitute
repeated mail fraud and/or interstate and/or foreign wire fraud in violation of 18 U.S.C, §§ 15;41,
1343,

43. - The above multiple, repeated and contiﬂuou,s acts of mail fraud and/or inteistate
and/or foteign wire fraud by the Individual Defendants, their Co-Conspirators, Haslam and Pilot
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“Corp., coristitute a pattetn of unlawful racketeering activity pursuanit to 18 U,S:C. § 1961(1),(5).
44.  Nothing in the nature of the above-described intentional schefne to defranid and
chieat Pla_iﬁt_iff and Class Members and/or intentional efforts to obtain money from‘Pla_intiff and
Class Members by false promises demonstiates that their wrongful actions would éver have
terminated but for the United States Government's or court intervention. Moreover, and
. independent of the duration of the scheme, the wrongful acts of the 1ndiyidua;l Defendants, their -
Co-Conspirators, Haslam and Pilot Corp. were a consistent, fegular and dominant part of the
manuer in ‘which they conducted and/or participated in the day-to-day business and financial
- dffairs 6f Pilot Flying J (the RICO enterprise).
CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS
45.  Pursuant to Rule 23 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, Plaiiitiff brisigs this
action against Defendants as a national class action for itself and all members of the following
Class of all othci‘s.éimilajﬂy situated (“Class Members™):
All individuals and erititiés that wete paities to fiiel febate and/or discourit contracts
with Pilot Corporation or Pilot Travel Centers, LLC, dba Pilot Flymg I, from
January 1, 2005 to the present.
Excluded from the Class are Defendants; the Co-Conspifators; any entity in Which
any Defendant or Co-Conspitator has a ¢controlling interest; the members, officers,
directots, employees, shareholders, agents and legal représentatives of Pilot
Corporation arid Pilot Travel Centers, LLC; any local, state or federal government
~ agenicy; the Court and Court personnel.
46.  ‘There are hundreds, if no‘t thousands of Class Members, who are so numerous.and
| geographically dispersed that their joinder is impracticable. The precise number and identities of

Class Members are currently unknown to Plaintiff, but can easily be derived from the fuel rebate

and/or discount contiacts between the Defendants and Class Members and/or Defendants'
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spreadsheets and other records ofthe.truckiﬁg companie;s defrauded and cheated by Defendants'

above-described wrongful actions.

47.

There are quéstions of law and fact common to the Class as a whole that

predominate over any questions affecting only individual Class Members i‘neluding, inter alig:

48.

a.

* whether Defendants’ above-descrzbed wrongful actions v1olated 18 US.C. § 1962

(c) and/or (d)

whether Defendants’ above—descnbed wrongful actions. constitute breach of
coritract at coinmon law; :

whether Defendants’ above-described wrongful actions constitute tortlous
interference with a contract at common law; :

whether Defendants “above-described wrongful actlons constitute negligent
nnsrepresentatmn at common law;

whether Defendants have been un_,ustiy enfiched by their above-described
wrongful actions;

whether - Defendants® above-deseribed wrongful actlons constitute commercial
fraud in the perfonnance of a contract;

whether Plamttff and Class Members sustained damages because of Defendants’
above-descrlbed wrongful actions;

whether Plaintiff and Class Members are entitled to recover actual damages,
consequential damages, incidental damages, punitive damages and/or RICO treble
damages, and pre- and post-judgment interest, and attorneys' fees;

whether Plaintiff and Class Members are entitled to disgorgerncnt and/or other
forms of equitable relief; and

whether Plaintiff and Class Members are entitled to injunctive relief and in what
form. ‘

" Plaintiff's ¢laims are typical of Class Membér's' claims because Plaintiff and Class

Members are all victims of Defendants’ above-described wrongful actions.

49,

. Plaintiff and its counsel will fafrly and adequately reptésent the interests of Class -

‘Members, Plaintiff has no interests antagonistic to, or in conflict with, any of the Class Members® -
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interests, Plzii’ﬁtiff’s lawyers dre highly experienced in prosecuting class éct—ions and cdmpléx
Céﬁﬁﬁer‘cial litigation, iricluding s“uc.cpssﬁil class actions asseiting I'RICO and.deceptive trade
practices violations. | |
. 50. A class action is superior 't,o‘ all other aviilable methods for faitly and efficiently
adjudicating Piaintiffs and Class Members' claims. Plaintiff and Class Members have been
i‘rrepéxabiy harmed as al result of Defendants’ aboveedes,cribed _\i;r‘r‘ongful actions. Litigating thisr
case as a class action is appropriate because @) it will avoid a multiplicity of suits and the
corresponding burden on the courts and Parties, (ii) it .wot_ll,d bé virtually impossible for all Class
Membefs to ifitefvene as parties-plaintiff in this action, tiii) it wili atlow numerous iﬁdividuals and
_entities with claims too small to adjudicate on an individual basis because of prohibitive 1itiga_tion
| costs to obtain redress for their injuries, and (iv-) it will provide court oversight of the ¢laims
process once Defendants’ liability is adjudicated. |
51, Certification of the Class; is appropriate uﬁde‘r Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(b)(3) becausé the
above common questions of law or fact predominate over any questions affecting individual Class
Members, and. a ;:lass action is superior to other available m_et_hod_s for the falr and efﬁc‘ient
adjudication of this controveisy.
52. D(efer’1dant:s.l wrongful actions are generally applicable to the Ciéss as‘a'whole, for
which Plaintiff seeks, inter alia, damagés and equitable remedies.
53 Absent a class action, Defendants will retain the benefits .of' thej:ir wr‘ongdoir‘:g_
despite their seriou;s violations of the ]a-w and if)ﬂiction of harin on Plaintiff's and‘Class Members'

businesses:and property. ' L .
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TOLLING OF STATUTES OF LIMITATION

54.-  Defendants fook active steps to conceal the fact that they wrongfully, impropetly,
illegally, unilaterally and rei)eatediy defrauded Plaintiff and Class Members by reducing and
| withholding the fuel rebates and/or discounts owed to them: The details of Defendanits’ efforts to
" conceal their above-described unlawful conduct are in their p,ossessi‘on, cué'tody -and control, to the
exclusion of Plaintiff and Class Members, and await further discovery. When this material
information was fifst revealed to Plaintift duting April 20]13—when the FBI Affidavit was
unsealed by the United States District Court for the Eastern District of _Tennc‘ssee‘ in Case No.
3:13-MJ-2028 (i)kt. #4)—Plaintiff exercised due diligence by itivestigating the situation, rétaining
counsel and pursuing its claims. Defendants fraﬁduienﬂy concealed their aibOVe-described
wrongful acts. Should such be ﬁece_ssa}y, therefore, all applicable statutes of limitatio‘g (if any) are
. rightfully toue&, | | |

55.  Defendants took active sfeps to con,ceé_i the fact that they wrongfully, impfo';;erly,
illegally, umilaterally-and répeatedly defrauded Plaintiff and Class -Mémb'ér‘s by reducing and
conceal their above-described unlawful conduct are in their possession, custody and control, to the
exclusion of Plaintiff and Class Membe‘rs, and await futther discovety. Wher tlis material
information was first revealed to Plaintiff during April 2013—when the FBI Affidavit was
unsealed by the Uﬁited States District Court for the Eastern District of Tenn_essle'c i'nvC_a_se._No-._
.3 :13;M-J-2928 (Dkt, #4)—Plaintiff exer.cis'éd due ciiligence by investigating the situation, retaining

counsel and pursuing its claims. Defendants concealed their dbove-deseribed wrongful acts.
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Should such be necessary, therefore, all aplpli(:able statates of limitation (if anyj are rightfully
tolled under the doctrines of'equitlable estoppel and/or equitable tolling. |
| RESPONDEAT SUPERIOR/AGENCY

56 Pilot Corp. and Pilot FE.y'iﬂg J ate liable under the doctiines of respondeat superior
' 'Co--.ConSpirators and/or their current -or anner officers, directors, employees, ageiits, and/or
- representatives during the course and séépe of their employment by, or representation of, Pilot and
~ Pilot Flying J, More specifically, Pilot Corp. a‘nd.Pilot Flying J are liable because such wiongfiil
acts were committed (i) within their general authority, (ii) in furtherance .of‘their business, and (iii)
o accomplish ﬁe objective for which suth officers, directors, employees; agents, and/or
representatives were hired—all. of whiéh &ifeétly and/of prdxﬁhateiy caused (and continue to
cause) Plaintiff and Class Members to suffer damages to their businesses and/or property to
Defendants’ _ﬁnan(_;;i_al benefit. |

VIOLATIONS OF 18 US.C, § 1962(c)
(AGAINST THE INDIVIDUAL DEFENDANTS AND PILOT CORP.)
-'57. The ﬁreceding factual statements and allegations are incorporated by reference.

58.- Pilot Flying J is an “enterpris.:e” within the meaning of 18 US.C. §§ 1661(4)
and1962(¢) and, at all relévant times, \;yas engagcd in, and the -activities of which affected,
interstate and/or foreign commerce within the.;neaning of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1961(4), 196g(c), and
1962(d). | .

59.  The Individual Defendants, Haslam and Pifot Corp. are “i);er‘sons” “employed by or

associdted with” Pilot Flying J within the meaning of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1961(3) and 1962(c).
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' 60.  The Individual Defendants, Haslam and Pilotl Corp. conducted and/or participated
in the busiress and ﬁnanciai- affairs of Pilot Flying J (the RICO éﬁterprise)’ through a pattern of .
unlawful activity within the rnean_iﬁg,of 18 U.S.C, §§ 1961(1)(B), 1961(5), and 1962(c), that is;- the
above-desceiibed multiple, repeated, aﬁd -continuous acts of imail frand and/or interstate and/or
— foreign wire fraud in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 2, 1341, and 1343. . |
| 61.  The Indi\}idu.al Defendants®, Héslam’s and Pilot Corp.'s patteifi 6f unlawfiul activity
gnci corresponding violations of 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c) directly and/or proximétely caused Plaintiff
and Class Mémb@r,s to suffer injury to their businesses and/or property vﬁthi_n the meaning-of 18
U.S.C. § 1964(¢) in that Plaintiff and Class Member‘s were damaged (and will continue to be
damaged) by the Individual Defendants’, Haslam’s and Pilot Corp.'s (i) reduction and withholding
~of fu,e‘l rebates and/or discou‘nté oWed to Plaintiff and Class Members, ‘vi.rithoujt théir knowledge or
approval, for the pﬁrposés of i‘ncregsing.Pilot Flying I's proﬁtabi[ity, increasing Haslam’s and Pilot
Corp.s feturn on investment, and increasiig the Iiidividual Defendants’ and .their
‘ C;)aConspirétors’ C(';m_pensation; and (ii) the lack of earnings and profits Plaintiff and Class
Mer_nb’ers'wou_ld_ and éhould have received on their unilaterally reduced and withheld fuel rebates
and/or discounts but for the Individﬁal Defendants’, Haslam’s and Pilot Corp.’s above-described
wrongful acts.
62 The Individual Defendants, Haslam and Pilof Corp. committed these substantive
RICO offenses by using Pilot Flying J (the RICO .ente‘rprise) to eng‘&'ée in mult'_iple predicate acés of
| mail fraud and/or intetstate and/or fofeign wite fraud to defraud and cheat Plaintiff and Class
Members and/or obtain money from Pla_inti_ﬁ" and Class Members by false promises by cc:;iie'r'tly
and unilaterally reducing and_ withholding fuel.rebates and/or discounts owed to Plaintiff and Class
Members, - without their knowledge or approval, for the purposes of increasing Pilot Flying J's
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profitability, increasing Ha.slam’s and Pilot Coip.’s retum on investment, and increasing the
Individual Defendants’ and their Co-Conspirators’ compensatién, all to the financial detriment of
; Plaintiff and Class Members. -
63. .Th'e Individual -Deféndaﬁts, Haslarh and Pilot Cofp. knew or- shoﬁld have known
) t'heir_ above—described tactics, misrepresentations .an-dfor uniawful acifons‘ “were frau‘dﬁl'ent '
. of, inter aliq, reduced fuel rebates and/or dlscounts, business destruction',‘lost- profits an&for lost
business opportunities. All of Plaintiffs and Class bMe‘mbers’ damag'eS Awe’r"e r‘ea‘sonably
foreseeable by the Individual Defendants and Pilot Corp. and/or anticipated as a substantial factor
‘and a natural consequence of thelr pattern of unlawful actmty |
COUNT Il
VIOLATION OF 18U.8.C. § 1962(d) BY
CONSPIRING TO VIOLATE 18 U.S.C. §1962(c)
(AGAINST THE CO-CONSPIRATORS & PILOT CORP.)
64. The preceding factual stateinents and allegations are incorporated by reference.
65, Pilot Flying J is an “enterlpriée" within the meaning of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1961(4) and

1962(c) and, &t all relevant times, was engaged in, a‘nd“the activities of which affected, ifitetstate
and/or foreign commerce within the meaning of 18 USC §8 1961(4), 1962(c), and 1962(d).

66. . The Individual Defén&ants, Co-Conspirators, Haslam and Pﬁot Corp. are ‘-‘persoﬁs”
“émployed by or associgted with” Pilot Flﬁng J (the_RICO enterprise) within the meaning of 18 -
U.S.C. §§ 1961_(3) and 1962(c). |

67. The Individual'Defendants, Cd-Con-spirators, Haslam and Pilot Cprp.'conspire&'

with each other within the meaning of 18 U.S.C. § 1962(d) to condict and/or -ﬁér‘t'icipate in the
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business and financial affairs of Pilot Flying J (the RICO enterprise) through a pattern of @awﬁl
racketeenng activity in violation of 18 U.8.C: §§ 2, 1341, and 1343
68. The Individual D,efendants , Co-Conspirators’, Haslam’s and Pilot. Corp.’s
conspiraey to conduet or participate in the conduct of the affairs of Pilot Flying J through p_attem, of
| unlawful racketeering activity, and their corresponding violations of 18 U'S'C.' § 1962(d), directly
and/or proximately caused Plaintiff and Class Members to suffer injury to their businesses and/or
property within the meaning of 18 U.5.C. § 1964(c). Specifically, Plaintiff and Clﬁ_ss Members
were damaged (and will continue to be damaged) by the Defendants’ and Co-Cothirators-’ )]
reduction and wit,hholding of fuel febqtes and/or discounts promised and owed to Pla_in_tiff and
Class Mémbers, without their knowledge of‘ apptoval, for the purposes of incteasing Pilot Flying
Is é.n‘d Haslam’s profitability, increasing Pilot Corp.’s return on investment, and increasing the
Indl\;ldual Defendants’ and Co-Conspirators' compensation, (ii) indueing theri to beconie and
remain customers, and (iii) the lack of earnings and profits Plaintiff and Class Members should and
would have ez_uped on their unilaterally reduced and withheld fuel rebates and/or discounts, but for
and proximately and directly Defendants" above-described wrongful acts that constifute predicate
acts under 18 U.S.C. § 1961(1) and (5). | e |
69.  The Defendants a_nd. their Co.;Conspirator_s committed these substantive RICO
offenses by using Piiot Flying J {(the RICO enterprise) to enge;ge in ﬁiuftiple predicate ac‘:'ts of mail
fraud and/or interstate and/or foreign wire fraud to defraud and cheat Plaintiff and Class Members
and/or obtain money from PIamtlff and Class Members by false promises by covertly and
umlateraily feducing and wﬁhholdmg fuel rebates and/or dlscounts owed to Plaintiff and Class
Members, without their knowledge or approval, for the purposes of increasing Pilot Flying J's
profitability, increasing Haslam and Pilot Corp.'s return on invéstment, and ‘increasing the
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_Indivic_iual Defendants’ and Co-Conspirators’ compensation, to the financial detriment of Plaintiff
and Class Members. | |

70.  The Defendants and their Co-Conspirators knew _thelir‘ above-described tactics,
misrepresentations. and/or unlawful actions were fraudulent, mislesdin’g, and illegal, and would
cause Plaifitiff and Class Members to suffet damages in the form of, inter alia, reduced fuel rei)ates
and/or dfsc‘ounts, business destruction, lost profits and]sr lost business opportunities. All of |
Plaintiff's ahd Class Mémbers’ damages were reasonably foreseeable by the Defendants and/or
anticipated as a substantial factor ;cmd a natural consequence of their pattern sf unlgwfﬁl activity.

_ COUNT 111 ‘
BREACH OF CONTRACT
"(AGAINST PILOT FLYING J)

71. . The preceding factual steité‘ments and allegations are incorporated by re'ference'

72, . Plaintiff and Class Members, on the one hand, and Pliot Flying J, on the other hand,
mutually intended to form and in fact, entered into valid and enforceable fuel rebate and/or
dlscount contracts under which Pilot Flying J was reqmred to credit or refund a certdin percentage
of Plaintiff’s and Class Msmbers fuel purchases in the form of rebates and discounts on a regular
b,as'is; |

73. Al condit‘iox;s precedent to Pilot Flying J's liability under these contracts were
perforinied by Plaintiff and Class Members Plsintiff and Class Members performed all of their
obligations under the contracts by, mter alia, patromzmg Pilot Flymg J truck stops, purchasmg
fuel and/or purchasing other goods and services.

'74. Pilot Flying J, however, breached its contracts with Plaintiff'and Class Members by
knowin'.gl).r, maliciously, fralidulenﬂy., willfully, waﬁtOnly, unilaterally, negligently and/or
‘Wroqgﬁﬂl-y feducin_g and withholding Plainﬁff’s and Class Mem;tier_s’ monthly fuel rebates asldfor
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discounts as fequired under the terms of their contracts with the Plaintiff and Class Members. Pilot
~ Flying J's wrongfui actions constitute breach of confract at common law. |
75.. Pilot Flying J’s above wrongful actions directly and/or proximately caused Plaintiff
and Cla_ss Members to suffer damages in the form of, inter alia, reduced fuel rebates and/or
' discounts, business ci%truction, lost profits and/or lost business opportunities.
| . COUNTIV |
DECEPTIVE TRADE PRACTICES
- (AGAINST ALL DEFENDANTS)
76.  Plaintiff i'ﬁcér‘porate‘s b); reference each of the preceding paragréphs as if fully set
forth herein. | |
77. © During the Class Period, Defendants engaged in uricons':éiclmable,' false, and
deceptive acts or qade practices by engaging inr the Fuel Rebate Fraud scheme as a_lIegéd 'herein._
Defendants' conduct in i_ﬁstitut‘i_n'g the Diegel Fﬁel‘ ﬁebaté Fraud scheme constitutes a deceptive .
trade practice.in violation of states’ Deceptive Trade Practices Acts.
78. f)efendan’cs misled and deceived Plaintiff and Class Members by reducing diesel
fuel 'rébates and di_sg.:()unts without their knowledg‘é or consent. Defendants' profited from febate
funds and discoglnis wrongfully withheld from Plaintiff and C']a.ss Members,
| 79.  Defendants' unfair and deceptive trade practices are the type of misconduct that the
states’ Deceptive Trade Practices Acts are des‘i gned to remedy.
80.  Plaintiff and the members of the Class have beént damaged as-a proximate result of
the condiict complained of herein.
8L Deféndants knowingly engaged in the deceptive practices, which constitute unfgif

and deceptive conduct in trade or commerce,
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$2.  The conduet described above constitutes unfair or deceptive trade practices
predomiriat_eiy and substantially affecting the conduct of ttade or coininerce throughout the United

States in violation of the states’ Deceptive Trade Practice Acts, including:

Alabama Ala. Code § 8-19-5
Arkansas Ark. Code Ann. § 4-88-101, et seg.
"Arizona Ariz. Rev. Stat. § 44-1522, et seq. .
California Cal. Civ. Code §§ 1780-1784, Business and
. Profession Code § 1720, ¢z seq., § 1750, et seq.
Connecficut Conn, Gen. Stat. Ann. §§ 42- 110a- 42:110g
Colorado Col. Rev. Stat. §§ 6-1-101 10 6-1-114
District of Columbia D.C. Code Ann. §§ 28-3801t0 28-3819
- Florida ) Fla. Stat. Ann. §§.501.201 to 501.213. -
Georgia Ga. Stat, § 10-1-393, et. seq.
Tdaho —[1daho Code §§ 48-601 to 48-619
Tilinois | BISTLCS5052
Indiana Ind. Code § 24-5-0.5, et 529. . . -
Towa Towa Code §.714:16
Kansas Kan. Gen. Stat. Ann. §§ 50-623 to 50- 644
Kentucky . Ky. Rev. Stat. Ann. §§ 367.110 - 367.990
Louisiana La. Rev. Stat. Ann.§8§ 13:1401 - 13:1418
Maine | Me. Rev. Stat. Ann. §§ 206-214
Maryland =~ | Md, Code Ann.§§ 13-501 '
Massachusetts - Mass, Geis L. Ann. Ch. 93A. §§ 1-11
Michigan | Mich, Stat, Ann.§ 19.418(8)
Minnesota -Minn. Stat, Ann. §§ 325D.09-325D.16
Missouri ' Mo. Ann. Stat. §§ 407.010-407.701
Montana . | Mont. Rev. Code' Ann. §§ 30-14-101 to
C130-14224
Nebraska ‘Neb. Rev. Code §§ 59—ISOI to 59-1623 L
Nevada Nev. Rev. Stat. §§ 590A.010-500A.280 -
New Hampshire N.H. Rev. Stat, Ann. §-358-A:2
Newlersey . | N.J. Rev. Stat. §§ 56:8-1 to 56:8-24
New Mexico N.M. Stat. AITL § 57-12-10 .
New York N.Y. Gen. Bus. 1. §§ 349-350
North Carolina N.C. Gen. Stat. §§ 75-1 to 75-56
North Dakota_ N.D. Cent. Code § 51-15-02
‘Ohio _ | Ohio Rev. Code Ann, .§ 1345 _
Oklahoma Okla. Stat, Tit. 158§ 753 .~ o
" Oregon Ore. Rev, Stat 88 646 605 646, 642_ L
Pennsylvania 73 Pa. Stat. § 201, et seq. o
Rhode Island R.I Rev:L. Ann, §8 6-13.1- ]t06131 11 o
South Carolina ) 8.C. Code § 395220, et. seq. _
South Dakota S.D. Comp. L. §§ 37-24-1 to 37-24-35
| Tennessee Tenn. Code.Ann. § 47-18-101, et seg.
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Texas Tex. Rev. Civ. Stat, §§ 17.41 - 17.63
Utah Utah Code Ann.§ 13-11-19
Virginia | Va, Code § 59.1:200, ef. seq.
‘Washingion RCW § 19-86-010, ef seq.

West Virginia W.Va. Code Ann; § 46A-6-104
Wisconsin Wis. Stat. Ann.§ 100.18

Wyoming Wyo. Stat. § 40-12-105, et. seq.

83.  Asaproximate result of the Defefidaits' deceptive trade practices, Plnintiﬁ' and the
members of the Class have suffered actual damagcs-'in.an amount to be proven at tn‘al.‘

84,  Defendants’ conduct complained of herein renders it liable uiider the states’
Deceptine .T'rade Practices Acts for damiages for the consequences of such conduct. -

) -85. Defendants actions were willful, wanton, malicious, and in total dlsregard for the
rights of Plaintiff and Class Members. Defendants knew or should have known in light of the
surrounding mrcmnstances that their conduct in v1olat10n of states’ Deceptive Trade Practices Acts
vyould n,ati;ral‘ly and probably result in da‘mage.s to Plaintiff and Class Me;mbe‘fs. Defendiints
~ continugd their wrongful conduct with malice or in reckless disregard of the consequences, from
which malice may be inferred. Furthér, Defendants intgnﬁonally pursued their course of conduct
for th;.e putpose of eausing Plaintiff and Class Membets damages. Punitive darhages should be
anvarded to deter the actions of Defendants and others who might engage in similar action or
conduct, |

86.  Plaintiff and Class Members are entitled to any and all penalties and/or multipliers
of damiages as nlay bg provided for in the states’ Dece'p'tive Trade Practices Acts.
87. Pléintiffand Class Membérs are entitled to an award of’reasonabié attorneys’ fees,

¢osts of this action, plus pre and post judgrent interest as may be allowed by law.
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!

_ COUNTV
_ UNJUST ENRICHMENT
(AGAINST ALL DEFENDANTS)

88; The preceding factual statements -and aIlegatxons are mcorporated by reference
With respect to Pilot Flying J only, th:s count is brought in the alternat;ve to Count II. |

89.  This Count is brought as a subclass under the unjust ennchspent _laws ‘of Alabama,
Atrizotra, Arkansas, Celifofnia, Colorado, Connecticit, D.C., Florida, Geo‘tgia', Hawaii, I‘Hinois,‘
Indiana, lowa, Louisiana, Maryiand,‘ Massachusetts, Michigan, Minnesota, Missouri, Nevada,
New 'Je_rsey, New Mexico, New ‘fork-, North Carolina, Ohio, Oklahoma, Oregon, I;ennsyl'naxlia,
Rhode Island, South Dakota, Tennessee, Texas, Utah, Virginia, and Washtngton (eoilectiveiy, the
“Unjust Enrichment Jnﬁsdictiens”), on behalf of all individuals and entities that .were psrt"ies to
fuel rebate and/or discount contracts with-any of Defeéndants, from January |, 2005-t0 the present

90.. ' Defendants hzive been (and contmue to be) unjustly enriched by, inter alia, (1) the
above-described unlawfuily réduced and w1thheld fuel rebates and/or discouits; (11) using and/or
investing the ﬁaudulently obtainéd revenues in connection with othet enterpns'es; and (‘111-}
| generating e return on the amounts described in (i) and (if). Accordingly, Plaintiff, for itself anct
Class Membe‘rs séeks to impose a constriictive trt‘aSt over (and fecover) 511 amounts by which
Defendaiits (and other persons mcludmg Defendants current and/or former employees-identified
in Exh:bnt A and poss:bly others, the 1dent1t1es of whom are known only to Defendants at this tlme)
have beén (and continue to be) unjustly enriched,

o coNtwI
FRAUDULENT MISREPRESENTATION
(AGAINST ALL DEFENDANTS)

91.  The preceding factual statéments and allegations are'incorporated by reference.
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92. As set out in “detail in fhe pre‘ccdiné paragraphs; Defendants made
mistepresentations to the Plaintiff and Class Members.

93, Theée representations concerned material facts.

94,  These representations \;vqrc false,

95. ' Defendants’ knew these representationis weére false when they weie made to the
Plaintiff and Class Members. . |

96,  Defendarts wantonly, willfully, recklessly, oppressively, outfageously, afd/or
intentionally made the above-described representations to the Plaintiffand Class Members without
regard for the truthfulness or falsity of the representations,

97.  Defendants made these représentations with the inténtion that the Plaintiff and
C-lajss; Members wouid_ rely on them. - | |

98.  Plaintiff and Class Membets reasonably relied on these reptesentations to- their
detriment, o

99:  Plaintiff and Class Members were d:amaged-_as, a direct and p"roxi:mat'_e result of _ '
Defendants’ misrepresentations. |

COUNT VII
NEGLIGENT MISREPRESENTATION
(AGAINST ALL DEFENDANTS)

100.  The preceding factual statements and allegations are incofporated by refetence,

101 As set out in detail in t}-1e preceding paragraphs, Defendants made
misrepreseﬁtatioﬁs-to the Plaintiff and Class Members.

102. These represéntatioﬁs c¢oncerned material facts.

103. These rebresentatious were false.
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- 104, ‘lvi)e'fendant_s’ k_new;or negligently d_is_réga,rg_léd '{he fact that ‘;h;:se repré‘se‘ﬁtaiibns
ﬁer"e false when théy were made to the Plaintiff and Class Members. v
105. Defendants made these represéntations with the intention that the flaintiff and
Class Members would rely on them. ‘
‘106. Plaintiff and Class Membérs reasonably felied on these representations t;)' their
detriment. |
107.  Plaintiff and Class Members were .d,amage,d i.lS-a direct and proximate result of
Defendants’ miérépreséntations. |
COUNT VIII

* SUPPRESSION
(AGAINST ALL DEFENDANTS) .

10'8.. - The preceding f’actpal stﬁtements_ and allegations are incorporated by referénce. _'

109. De‘fendéhts had a duty to disclose and pay to Plaintiff and Class Member's-the '
proper amount of fuel rebates and/or discounts that they were actually owed pursuant to their fuel
rebate anid/or diseount agreements, | |

110, Deféndarits uniformly, wa;ntonly, willfully, recklessly, OppreS'lSiVely, ouh'ageb_usly',
and/or intentionally and concealed their intention to wit,hh()'ld; and acts of withholding, the fuel
rcb'at(;# émd/or discounts owed to Plaintiff and Class Mc_r_r,;bf-:'rs,' without thcii_r.knowl_cdge or‘"
approval, for the i)ufpéses of increasing Pilot .Fiying J's profitability, incfeas;'ir'lg the Entity
Defendants’ return on investment, and increasing the Pilot Flying J Executives’ corﬁpeﬁsation (and V
the'. c‘ompen‘éaﬁqn of ‘other Qf Defendants’ c‘u;_fl_'en_t. and/or former,er_nplqye';cs)—-—to the .ﬁnanq‘i’al
déttitnent of Plaintiff and Class Menbers. |

111, Defgndaa;s’ concealment and si;pprqssion of their payment -(‘)f' less moiiies to

Plaintiff and Class Members than they. were owed caused the Plla'i'_ntiff and Class Meﬁ)bérs to
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continue to do business with the Defendants, not realizing the Defendants ‘were_ ot living up to
their promises.
112.  The Plaintiff and Class Members were damaged as a direct and proximate result of
the Defendants’ intentional, reckless and/or negligent suppression.
RELIEF REQUESTED
WHEREFOR, Plaintiff, for itself and Class Members, respectfully requests that:
1) This action be certified as a class sction;
2) Plaintiff be designated as the Class Representative;
3) Plaintiff's counsel be appointed as Class Counsels
4) With respect o Counts I-II (violations of RICO, 18 U.S.C. § 1961, et seq.):
1) threefold the actual, consequential -and/or incidental ‘damages sustained by
Plaintiff and Class Members along with costs of suit, attorneys’ fees, litigation
expenses, -and court costs, all putsuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1964(c), together with
pre--and post-judgment interest at the highest legal rates;
ii) equitable relief, as may be appropriate, pursuant to 18 US.C. § 1964(a),
© including an equitable accounting for all benefits, consideratior, and £ross
fevenues received, directly -or iridifectly, including the imposition of a -
.constructive trust, the vo1d1ng of unlawful transfers, the disgorgement of all
ill-gotten gross revenues and/or all amounts by’ which Defendants have been
" unjustly enriched; and

ii1) injunctive relief:

5) With respect to Couirits II-VIIL

i) actual, consequentlal and/or mcxdental damages to be determined by the
trier of fact; : . :
ii) punitive damages;

iii)  all amounts by which Defendants have been unjustly enriched;

iv) an equitable accounting for all benefits, consideration, and gross revenues
received, directly or indirectly, by any of the Defendants; including the
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v)
vi)

vii)

- imposition of a constructive trust, the voiding of unlawful transfers and the
disgorgement of all ill-gotten gross revenues;

injunctive relief (as set forth above);
pre-and post-judgment interest at the highest legal rates;

attomeys- fees and litigation expenses incurred throtigh the tiidl and any
appeals of this ¢ase; costs of suit; and

6) For aII Counts, such other-and further relief that the Court deems Just and proper.

JURY DEMAND

~ Plaintiff, for itself and all othérs similarly situated, respectfully demands a trial by struck

jury on all claims so triable.

D'ated June 6, 2013.

Respectfully Submitted,

SN

David J. Guin (ASB- 3461-g67d)
Tammy M. Stokes (ASB-6084-k69t)
Rex W. Slate (ASB:6934-a63r)
GUIN, STOKES & EVANS, LLC
505 20% Street Notth, Suite 1000
Birthinghaim, Alabama 35203

Tel: 205y 226-2282

Fax: (205) 226-2357
dav1dg@gseattomevs com

rexs(@ _seattorne /s.com

Charles R. Watkins

GUIN; STOKES & EVANS LLC
300 South Wacker Drive, Suite 1700A
Chicago, IL 60606 .
Telephone: (312) 878:8391

charlesw(@gseattorneys.com
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PLEASE SERVE DEFENDANTS BY CERTIFIED MAIL AT THE F OLLOWING :
ADDRESSES:

"PILOT. TRAVEL CENTERS LLC,

d/b/a PILOT FLYING J

c¢/o C T CORPORATION SYSTEM :

2 NORTH JACKSON STREET, SUITE 605
MONTGOMERY, ALABAMA 36104

PILOT CORPORATION

¢/o C T CORPORATION SYSTEM ‘
2 NORTH JACKSON STREET, SUITE 605
MONTGOMERY, ALABAMA 36104

JAMES A. HASLAM III

¢/o PILOT CORPORATION

5508 LONAS DRIVE :
KNOXVILLE, TENNESSEE 37909

JOHN FREEMAN

. ¢/o PILOT CORPORATION
5508 LONAS DRIVE
KNOXVILLE, TENNESSEE 37909

* MARK HAZELWOOD
¢/o PILOT CORPORATION
5508 LONAS DRIVE
KNQXV'ILLE, TENNESSEE 37909

BRIAN MOSHER .

c¢/o PILOT CORPORATION:

5508 LONAS DRIVE
KNOXVILLE, TENNESSEE 37909
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